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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, :

‘Plaintiff,

- against - - : COMPLAINT

FAISAL ZAFAR and
SAMEER THAWAN]I,

Defendants,

--X

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission™), for its complaint against
defendants Faisal Zafar (“Zafar”) and Sameer Thawani (“Thawani”) (collectively, the
“Defendants”), alleges as follows:

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS

1. The Cdmmi'ssion brings this action to sfop an ongoing, secuﬁties fraud. Since late
2004 and as recéntly as March 2006, the Defend;clnfs have engagedin a Schefne to mé.nipulate the
markét for numero‘us thihly traded “microcap” or “smallcap” stocks, all of which afe traded over
tﬁe counter or on what was ﬁntil recently called the Nasdaq Smalléap Market. The Defendants

have generated a total of over $873,000 in fraudulent profits by selling at least 24 of these stocks



nt inflated pn'ees after disseminating Inaterially false i_nforrnatiOn about the issuers on internet
messztge boards.

2. | The Defendants’ market manipulation scheme applieé classic “pump and dump”
techm'qnes to the rinternet.. After buying‘ shares at prevailing market price"s‘, Zafar and Tﬁawani
use online aliases to post meseages touting the etock and containing phony press release excerpts -
or other falée “news” about the issuer. The fictitious subject matter includes huge business

contracts, mergers and othef alliances with major corporations,snch as Google, Kmart and Sun
Microsystems, strategic acquieitions, and other &amatie developments designed to make these
little known companies appear to be surefire investment opp'ortunitiesv. By using multiple online
aliases, the Defendants make it appear as if the same breaking “news” is coming from'multiple
independent sources. In addit_ion, the messages often niake eutlandish short-term price |
predictions purportedly based_en the false information, and aggressively urge investors to buy' |
the stock immediately. Once the stock price increases as a reSHIt of the Defendants’ false
messages, the Defendants immediately sell all their shares at the higher pﬁee. After their sales,
the price of the stock quickly returns to its pre-maniputation level.
| 3. The Defendants have also preyed on fears about terrorism and intemational health
_epidemics to deceive investors. For example, after the Lendon sunway bombings and reports
concerning a deadly “tJird ﬂu’f virus, Zafar poeted messages falSely Stating that dne issuer was
vreceiving a contract from the Department of Homeland Security to impr_ove security on New ‘
York 'City'subways, and that another issuer Was acquiring a company that produces “bird’ﬂu”
vaccine. | |
4. More recently, the Defendants have targeted speciﬁc investors by sending emails

to internet user groups devoted to low-priced stocks in tandem with the false messages. These



emails purport to alert-investors to imn]jnent news about‘ the stock and urge them to capitalize b'y
buyi_ng the stock. On several recent occasiOns, the Defendants have sent these emails to group
‘members while‘simultaneonsly, or shlo'rtlyvthereaﬂer, posting false messages on-different internet. '
message boards about the same stock under different user names. This strategy has increased the
volume of purchases generated by the Defendants” fraudulent touting and, as a result, the
Defendants’ trading profits have been progressively increasing. In addition, although the
Defendants’ initial profits were modest due to the relatively small nurnber ef shares that they |
-pnrchased, the size of their purchases gradually increased as they accumulated cash ﬁern the
scheme, enabling them to take progressively larger nositions._ |
5. ‘This fraud is continuing. The Defendants have made at least $242, 499 n the last
- two-and-one-half months on just three stocks. The Defendants made a total of $87 432 on .
] anuary 17, 2006, after falsely telling investors that a small domestlc constructlon company was
- getting a major reconstruction contract in Iraq. On February 13, 20(_)6, the Defendants madea
. total of $94,619 after falsely telling investors that Google was going to buy 50 million shares of
the stock of an overseas medical equipment supplier. Two weeks later, the Defendants made
$_60,447 by falsely telling investors that analysts were predicting a huge jump in the price of .
another srnall issuer because “inajer contract news” was expected.
d. The Defendants, directly or indirectly, are engaging; have engaged, and are about
to engage in violations of Section 17(a)_of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Seeurities Act”), 15. |
YU.S.C. §77q(a); Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15
U.S.C. §78j(b), and Rule 10h-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5. Unless the Defendants are
temporarily restrained and prehminarlly and permanently enjomed they will continue to engage

in the scheme alleged herein, and m schemes of a similar type and object.



JURISDICTION AND VENUE
7. The Commission brings this actioh pursuant to authority conferred by Seﬁ;tiqn : |
20(b) of ihé.Sécurities Act, 15 U.S.C. §771(b), and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S..C.
§ 78u(d), seeking to teniporarily resfra_in and preliminarily and .pennanf.:n_tl'y enjoin the |
Defendants from engaging in the wrongfu‘l conduct alléged herein. ThQ.Commission also seeks a
final judgrrig:nt ordei'ing the befendants to disgorge t‘heir.ill-got.teil gains and to pay prejudgmént
in‘iérést thereon, and ordering the Defendants to pay civil money-penélties i)msuant to. Section }'
20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77t(d), and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Aci, 15 USC
§7 8u(d); The Commission also seeks equitable relief while this action is pending, including an
| ordér (a) freezing the Defendants’ assets; (b)v directing the Defendants to provide an accounting;
| and (c) providing for expedited discovery and prohibiting the destruction of documégnts.
. 8. This Court has jurisdiction over this action, aiid venugrlies in this District,
- pursuant to Sections 20(b) and 22@ of the Securities Act,; 15 U.S.C. §§77t(b), 77v(a), and
Sections 21(d), 21(e) and 27 of t}ie Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§77u(d), 77u(e) and 78aa. Each of
the Defendanis ‘maintains “a reéidence and transacts business in the Easteni Distn'ctr of Ngw York.
The condu,ct" alleged herein occuﬁed, in part, in various lbcatioris in the Eastern District of N‘ew‘
York. Victims of thei Defendants’ fraud are located in the counties of Kings, Queens and
Richmond and eléeiwhere in the Eastern District, as well ias t}iroughout the United States.
9. “The Defendailts, directly or indirectly, smgly or m concert, have made use of the
- means or instrurnents Qf transportation or communication in, and the means or instrumentality of,
interstate commerce, or of the mails, rin connection with the transactions, acts, practicéé, and

courses of business alleged herein.



" THE DEFENDANTS

10.  Zafar, age 32, isa United States citizen and resides at 4 Bergers Coun 1n
- Yaphank, New York. VZafa:r is listed in public records as the president and CEO of e company
.‘ _celled Secure-Minds, Inc. (“Schre-Mindé”), a New York corporation. Public records list
Zafar’s residence as Secure-Minds’ bﬁsiness address. _According to a Secure-Minds website,
Zafar attended the New York Institute of Technology. |

11. Thawani, age27,isa ci'tiZen of India and resides at 55 Lindel Av_enﬁe in Lake
Grove, New Yerk. "Ihawani is listed on the Secure-Minds website as an officer of Secure-ry. )
Minds. According to the Secure-Minds website, ThaWani also attended the New York Insfitute '
of Technology. |

THE DEFENDANTS’ FRAUDULENT SCHEME,

12.  Zafar and Thawani are engaged in a classic internet “pump and dump”
manipulation scheme aimed at thinly traded stocks that they anonymously tout on Ihessage
boards as “hot picks” while dieseminating phony “news” about the issuers. The basic structure.‘
of the scheme is as follows: (1) one or both of the Defendants purchase shares of the issuer’s

| stock in their online bfokerage accounts; (2) the Defendants register multiple pnline identities.

| (“User IDs”) with internet message board services; (3) the Defendants post multiple messagee
atti'ibuted to their User IDs on internet message boards devoted either to the touted stock or to -

: other,'more widely followed stocks; (4) the messages contain materially false statements about

the iseuer and urge other investors to buy the stock; and (5) as soon as the stock price inereases

due to purchases spurred by the false statements, the Ijefendants sell their shares at the iﬁﬂated

/

"price for a quick profit.



The Defeildants’ Use Of Hundreds Of Different
User IDs And Other Tactics To Conceal Their Identities

13.  The Defendants have created at least 300 different User IDs and have used them
to post wéll over one thousénd messages fraudulently touting the stock of at Ieast 24 small-cap -
is.suers, some ofthefn on multiple -occasions. The Defendants qreated all of these diffcrent User

IDsin order to, gmong other things, conceal their identitievs from investors >and thereby creaté the
- -false appearance that numerous individuals Were independe;ntly making th‘e‘ same favorable :

statements éb‘oﬁt the tafgeted’ stock. In each relevant instance, howevér, the false message can.b'e
traced back to oné_ or fhe other of the Deféndants. |

14 To po-st information on a message board, a person must first create a user account

with the mesSage board service provider by selecting and registering a User ID and password for
thé éccdmt. .The user thereafter logs in to his or her account with the Iﬁess'age board service
e provider by,ente‘ring h1s or her registered User ID and password, and that User ID appears imdef
the heading of each posted message. -

15. | ‘Each timé anew User ID is created and each time é user logs in to an existing
usér acco{mt to post:a meésage or for some other reason, the message boa;rd service provider
records the_.Internet Protocol Address (“IP Add;ress”) of the user and the date and time at which
the User ID was created or was used to log into an existing account. An IP Address 1s a multi-
digit.ideﬂtiﬁcat-ion number assigned to the user’s internet contiection by his or her Internet
.Ser-vice Provider (“ISP”)_, the entity that connects individual users to the interh’et. The IP
- Address serves as a routing address for e-mail and other electronic data sent to of from that
internet connection. |

| 16. During the relevant period,.Zafalf and Thawani each maiﬁtained ISP accounts with

Optimum Online, Inc. (“Optimum”) at their respective home addresses. During the relevant



- period, Zafar and T]ﬁawaﬂi uéed the illterhet connections provided through their Optimum ISP
accounts.v,to create and régiStef multiple User IDs with intemet message board sérvice providers
and to log in under those Usér -IDs,-inchiding the User IDs to which thé false méssages de'scribed
herein were attributed. | | o

The Use of Yahoo Groups To Enhance The Scheme

17. = In addition to posting false messages, thé,Dgfendants\have’ recently also used web
pages spdnsored by Yahoo to enhance their scheme. Yahqo prpvides a servicé called Yahoo.-
- Groups that consists o'fWeb'p:«igesl devoted .t'o particular to_pics'\'vhere internet users with common
: -interest-s can exchange information. Each individﬁal grouf) has one or more moderators who can,
- among other tlﬁngs, send email messages»simultanebus.ly to all of the g'roup nriemiﬁers.'
18.  Zafar and Thawani have been moderators of groups .devoted to low-priced, leéser—
,kr_lown stocks, including ‘g'roups'called “n'asdaqriders’.’. and .“hottest(;,ha;nnelingstoqks.” On several
occasions, they have sent email mes-sages' lto group members éncouraging them to buy 's.hares ofa
stdck while simultaneously, Qr shortly fhefeaﬂer, posting false méssa_ges on sevefal different |
internet message boards about the éame stock under different U$er IDbs.' The groups moderated
by Zafar and Théwani currently have a total of approXimatély 5,400 members.

Examples Of The Défendants’-Manipulzition '

19.  Each time the Defendants rria:ﬁpulate a stoﬁk, the key elements of the scheme

- occur in the sa:me fapid sequence, and oﬂeﬁ withiil tﬁe span of a si’ngie day: One or Both of the
Defendants buy the stock. and post multiple false message;s'about-the issuer under different User
IDs; the price of tﬁe sfock and its tradjng volume rise; the Defendants sell all of their stock at a -

' 'p'roﬁt; and the stock price returns to the prior level. The é_tocks manipulated by the Defendants in

this manner include the following:



_Ocean Bio-Chemical, Iﬁc. _ |
: .20. Thé common stock of Océaﬁ Bio-Chemical (“Oéean Bio™), a Florida corpofation
based in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, is publicly traded on the Nasdaq Capital (formerly SmallCap)

' Markét under the ticker symbol OBCIL The Defendants manipula&ed the rrnark‘et.‘for Ocean: Bio

stoc‘j:k on multiple occasions for a total proﬁf of $148,424.

- 21.. Forexample, from December 6 throﬁgh December 9, 2005, Zafér purchased |

: 82,300‘ shafés of Ocean Bio stock at an average price_pf $1.’0(_) per silare. On December 7 and
December 8, 2005, Thawani .purchased 30,196 shares of Ocean Bio si:ock at an'average pﬁce 6f
$1.01 per share. |

22. On December 12,‘ 2005, the Defendants postéd- a series of false messages about '

- Ocean Biq, and then sold all of their ’shafes for a total profit of $1 10,6.7('). The stock had opened
at $1.31 per shére on December 12 but rose as hlgh as $3.00 after the faise messages were-
posted, only to drop back down to $1,35 ;lt the close once the Dcféndants had unloaded their
positioh» at average prices of $2.08 (Zafar) and $1.77 (Thawani)_ per share. On December 12, the

: tfading volume was 4,811 percent hiéher than on the previous day. |

23. Zafé.f posted one of the falsé messages oﬁ a Yahoo message board at 9:12 a.m. on

Dccember 12,2005. In this meséagé, Zafar stated that "‘énalyéts raised the price target on OBCI

to $4.30” because “news of major Navy contract is expected (hence the upgrade).” Shortly

t_hereaﬂer, Zafar posted several more messages under other User IDs containing similar
nﬁ$statements. These statements were all materially false ahd-'_misleading because, among other
reasons; Ocean Bio is a small manufacturer of maintenance pi'oduCts for recreational vehicles:
that has never entered into a coﬁtract with the Navy or even engaged in discussions about a Navy

contract.



24, ‘While pbstiﬂg messages about a nonexistént Nav§ contr_act, Zafar also
simultaneously sent e_niail messages toutin.g vOcean Bio to the members Qf a Yahoo Group of
~ which he aﬁd Thawani were the moderators. For example, at 10:29 a.m. on December 12, 2005,
Zafar sent an emajl message und’e; the User ID “inarketgenera ” to the members of the Yahoo
Group cal]ed “hottestchannelingstocks.” | In the email, Zafar stated that “OBCi is the new pick”
with a “price targéf [of] $3.39,” and urged the group members to place bﬁy ofders “abo_ve_ the
ask” --i.e. to offer to pay mére than the cuﬁent market pric.e‘ -- to ensure thét they get their
- orders filled for .thisb“fa‘st moving stock.” These stateménts were all materially false and
nﬁsleadihg because, among other things, Zafar had no factual basis fbr the price prediction.

25. I anothér example, Zafar méde approximately $1 1,000 on January 10, 2005,
after posting multiple false inessages about Ocean Bio on different Yéiloo message boards. One
-of the messages was posted on a messagé board devoted to Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. |
. .(“Sin'uS”) and calﬁed the fOlloWing headline: “SIRI [Sirius] GIVES 1 BILLION DOLLARS TO
OBCIL.” In the text of the message, Zafar Went on to state thaf Ocean Bio is “expected td. geta
major NHJLTMELION DOLLAR $$$ contract from Navy next weék.”_ Two minutes later,
Zafar posted ano_ther message containing the same statement about a muitimillidn dollar Navy
cbntract; but this ﬁme the message was posted on a Yahoo message boéfd devoted to Google énd ,
‘carried the following headline: “GOOG [Google] GIVES 1 B]LLION DOLLARS TO OBCL”

26. The statements described above in paragraph 25 were ali materially false ana
misleading bcc_éuse, émong othér reasons, (i) Ocean Bio nevef entered int6 a contract with the
Navy or even engaged in discussions aboﬁt a Navy contract; and (ii) neither Sirius nor Goéglé

has ever invested or otherwise given any money at all, much less $1 billion, to Ocean Bio.



Heaithéare Technologies Ltd.

27.  The common stock of Healthcare Technologies Ltd. (“Healthcare™), a company
bésed in Petach Tik\}‘a, Israel, is publicly traded on fhe Naédaq Capital Ma1.'ket, under the ticker
syinbol HCTL. The Deféndants ﬁléde a total j)roﬁt of $94,619 manipulatih'g the market for
Healthcare sfock in February 2006.

28 From February 7 through Fel_;rﬁary-lO, 2006, Zafar and Thawani bought a total of
257,390 shares -of Healfhcare stock at average prices of $O.72 and $0.82 per Share, respectively.

29.- On February 10, shortly éﬁer the above purchases and just before the close of
trading, Zafar posted a false message about Heélthcare (.)n a Yahoo niessage board devoted to -
‘Google-withﬂle foildwing headline: “GOOG [Google] TO BUY 50 MILLION SHARES OF

HCTL [Healthcare).” On.Febrliéry 13, 2606 -- fhe next trading day--- Zafar posted a message on
anothef Yahoo message board under a different USer ID falsely stating that Healthcare “stock is
"about to double or triple in value” due to “ANALYSTS UPGRADES AND NEWS.”

'~ 30.  The statements .c.o:nta;ined‘ in the messages described above in paraglfaph 29 were
maten'aliy false and misleading because, among other reasons, (i) HealthCare is an overseas
medical equipment supplier with $'1,2_1' miliion in anﬁual revenue and a public float éf about 7.8
million shares; (ii) Google hevcr purchaséd or ever had aﬁy plans to purchase any shares, much -
less 50 }nillion shares;'» of Heéltflcare stock; and (iii) the stock price predictioné contained in the

' 'Febru_ary 13 message lacked ény bésis in facf, as Healthcare stock was not the subj'ect of any
analyst upgrades and there were no p'ublished news reports about Healthcare at that timé. .

31. The priée and volume of Healthcare stock increasgd substantially after the false

messages were posted, and Zafar and Thawanj sold all of their shares on February 13, 2006, at-

average prices of $1.11 and $1.16 per share, respectively, netting a profit of $94,619. The stock

10



had bpéned 6n February 13 at $0.85 per share and climbed to aihigh' _;)f $1.31 per share, a 54%
increase. Trading volume on February 13 iricre'ased> by 1,728% from the previous trading day.

| _Aﬁér the Défendants’ sales, the stoék price dropped to $0.75 at the _cldse of,irading- on February
13,2006, | |

‘Williams Industries, Inc.

32. The common stock of Williams Industries, Inc. (“Williams™), a Virginia
corporation ﬁased in Manassas, _Virgi'nia,:is publicly traded on the Nasdaq Cépital Market under
~ the ticker symbol WMSL The Defendants made a total pro.ﬁt of $87,433 manipu_lating the
- market for Williams stock in January 2006. | N |
33.  From January 11 through January 13,_ 2006, Zafér and Thawani purchased a total
0f 61,199 shar¢s of Williams stock af average pricés of $2.15 and $2.20 per share, respective_lj,
34. . 'At10:03 am. on January> 17, 2006.-- the next trading day -- Zafar_ posted a
message abouf Williams on a Yahbo messaée board falsely stating és follows: “Analysts raised
| pricé target to $5.00, looks like WMSI [WiIliains] getting a major reconstruction contract in Iraq,
‘which could cause a major rally and cause WMSI to breék‘ $5.00 today.”
.35.  The statements in the meésage described above in paragraph 34 were r.naterially'
false and misleading because, ainong other reasons, @) Willié_ms has never. entered into, or taken _
: ‘any-sfe;-)s to enter into, a contract involving cohstructidﬁ or any other work in Iraq; and (ii)
: Williamé js a small domestic construction company that does not do overseas projects.
36.  The price and volume of Williams stock increased dramatically after this falée
message was posted, and Zafar and Théw‘ani sold all of thei; shares that same day (.T anuary 17) at
average prices of $3.55 and $3.29 per share, respectively, netting a profit of $87,433. The stock

had opened on January 17 at $2.69 per share and climbed to a high of $3.95 per share, a 47%

11



increase. Trading volume on J anuary 17 increased by 8,124% over the previous trading day.'
After the De_fendants’ »Sales; the stock price dropped to $2.32 at the close of trading on January

17, 2006.

Firstwave 'Ifecnn.ologies, Inc,

37. | The common stock of Firstwave Technologies, Inc. (“Firstwave™), a GeOrgia
corporation based in vAtlanta, Georgia, is publicly traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the
ticker symbol FSTW. Thg Defgn’dants manipulated the market for Firstwave stock on niultiple
occasions between January 2005 and November 2005 for a total profit Qf $79,326.

38. For eXample, on January 28, 2005, Zafar} and Thawani pnrchased' a total of 27,700
shares of Firstwave stock at nnerage prices of $1.88 and $1.65 per share, respectively.

39. Also onlJ anuary 28, shortly after the above pnrcnases, Za»far posted .three

| messages in quick sﬂccéss_ion falsely stating that Sun Microsystems, Sirius and Taser

International were sepafatcly going to Qnte'r into strategic alliances with Firstwave and that each
alliance “would be announced next ‘wéek.” These messages were posted on Yahoo message
Boards devoted to Sun Microsystems, Sirius and Taser International.

| 40.  The statements in the mnssages described above in paragraph 39 were all '
materially false and'mislealdi.ng because, among other reasons, Firstwave has never entered into,
or éver taken any‘ stéps to enter into, an alliance or other business combination with Sun
MicroSysteins, Sirius,. or Taser I'ntematiponal, and neither Firstwave nor any-of those other
companies has ever made or planned to make any such announcement.

41.  The price and Volnme incrensed dramatically after the false meésages described
above in paragraph 39 n/eré poéteci, and Zafar and ThaWanj sold all their shares on January 28, B

2005, at average prices of $2.02 and $2.08 per share, respectively, netting a profit of $4,473.

12



| | The stock had closed at $'.1 56 per share oh the day before the m‘anipulation'began a anuary 27
and clinibed as high as $2.5.0'per share, é 60% increase, on J anuary 28. Tradihg vdlume on
J anuary 28 increased by 5,_376% from the previous trading day. After the Defendants’ sales, the
Stock_ price dropped to $1.86 at the close of trading on Januargr 28, 2005.

42.  The Defendahts manipulated FirstWavé stock again in November 2005, generating
éro‘ﬁts of $72,397. | |

43.  On November 17 and November 18, 2005, Zafar and Thawani purchased a total = -
of 45,107 shar_es of Fifsfwave stock at avefage pric'es of $1.84 and $1 .86. per share, respectively.

- 44. Shorﬂy after the market closed on Novémber- 18, fhe Defendants posted three

méssages in rapid succession on three different.Ya‘],Joo message bbards falsely stating t'hat,avnew
contract for Firstwave “is- gqing to ;;'ause HUGE jump in e@ngs, a.cc.ording to. Wall Street
ia;nalysts."’ The latter twb of these messages acided thatv“Wall_ Stréet ié projeéting $6.00 by end of
November.;; The Defendants posted additional messages on the next trading day (November 21).
claiﬁu'ng that Eirstwnave’é' share price wés going to climb to $5.50 or $6.00 per share. |

45.. | The statements in the messages describe& above in paragraph 44 were all
matei’ially false and nﬁsleading because, among other reasons, V(i) FjrstWave has ﬂever been
cbvered by‘ any securities analysts; and (ii) no securities anélyst or other ﬁnan_cial. professional
publi_cly projected éi)rice target for .Fi_rstwa\'/e sfock in or about November 2005, much less a
price target of $6.00.

4‘16. ' -Thé.price and volume increas_éd'dramatically..aﬁer the..falsve messages described
above in paragraph 44 were posted, and Zafér and Thawani sold all their shares én. November 21,
2005 at averagc prices of $3.40 and $3.67 per shafe, respectively, netting a profit of $72,397.

The stock had closed at $2.17 on November 18 and climbed as high as $4.36 per share on |

13



Novemrber.21,v a 101% increase. Trading volume incfeaséd on November 21 by 2,055% from the
previous trading day. A.ﬁer the Ddfendan_ts’ sales, the stock price vdiopped to $2.45 at the close
: of trading on November 21, 2005 ; |

47.  The Defer_idants also made $2,457 manipulating Firstwave stock in Februa:y
2005. | | | |
| ~48.  On February 18, 2005, Zafar and ThaWani purchased 23,100 shares of Firstwave
stdck at average prices of $1.78 and $1.71 per share, r,especti\"e_ly. Zafar then postéd tWo-

‘ ﬁeSsagés on a Yahoo message board false]y- stating that Gdo'gle was _giving $240 million to
Firstwave and was working with the company on a “contract worth over $_24_0 million . . . to
build a cdnsortium.” The ﬁr_st such message was _posted on the afternoon of February 18, and the
second message was posted dn ﬂle morriing of F ebruary 22, which was the next trading day.

49.  The sfatements described above in paragraph 48 were materially false and
‘ misieadin_g because, among other reasons, (i) Google has never invested or otherwise given aﬁy
money at all, much vlress. $240 millibn, to Firsthve or ever entered into a contract or-other
business relationshi;; of any kind with Firstwave or taken any steps to :do S0; and @) F irsfwave is
a small business software dompany with armual revenue_é of $7.>4~mi11.ion.

50.  Over the-coilrsé of February 18 and February 22, Zafar and Thawani:sold all of
their s}‘.lares. at avérage prices of $1.90 and $1.87 per share, respectively, netting a}proﬁt df |
$2,457. Aﬁg:r false messages on February 1.8 dnd 22 were pqsted, the price of Firstwave svt(‘)ck
" rose as high as $2.10 on Februa_fy 18 and $2.09 on February 22, a33% and 32% increase, |
respectively, from the closing price'on February 17. Trading volume increased by 2>1 07% on

February 18 over the prior day and by another 262% on February 22.
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OraLabs Holding Corb. _

'51. - The common stock of OralLabs i-Iolding Corp. (“OraLébs”), a Coi’ora;do

- corporation based in Parker,'-Colorado, is publiciy tradéd on the Nasdaq Capifal Markst undef thé
ticke,r symbol OLAB. The Defendants manipulatéd‘the' market for Oral.abs stock nn multiple

- occasions, including as recently as March 2006, fqr a total profit of $75,405.-

52. On Novernbef 4, 2005, Zafar and Thawani purchased a total of 27,250 shares of
Oralabs stock at average prices of $2;33 and' $2.30 per share, respestively.

53 On November 7, 2005 -- fhe next tfading day -- Zafar posted a message falsely
stating that “Colgate Palmolive [was] likely [to] purchése- [OraLab’s]‘ oral care _division and re-
seil [its] products under [the] Colgate name.” This inessage further stated thst QraLab’s annual
‘revenue would increase by “$400 million” as a result and claimed that an “analyst team on
CNBC resnmmended buying” the stock.

54. The statements in thé messages describ.ed above in pafagraph 53 were all

_- msteﬁally false and misleading because, among other reasons, (i) Colgate Palmolive has never
entered info' or agreed to enter into; or taken any steps toward, a transaction involving the
purchase of a business unit from OraLabs or the sale of OraLab products; n_of has Colgate
.Palmoliv.e ever had discussions with OraLabs about any business transaction; (i1) no one on
CNBC or any other sesurities analyst publicly recommended buying OraLabs stock in or about '
November 2005, as the stock was not followed by any securities a.-nalysts at that_time; and (iii)
- OraLabs’ reported annual revenue for the prior fiscal year was $13.1. million. |

- T55 . The nﬂce and volume Qf OraLabs stock increased dramatically after the false
. message descn'bed above in paragraph 53 was Ip'oste,d, and Zafar and Tl_lawanisold,all their

shares on November 7 at average prices of $2.88 and $2.90 per share, respectively, netting a
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' profit of $14,957. The stock had closed at $2.30 per share on the da}r before the tooting began
(November 4) and climbed as high as $4 10 per share on November 7, a 78% increase. Tradmg
volume on November 7 1ncreased by 1,628% over the prev1ous trading day. After the
Defendants’ sales, the stock | prlc_e dropped to $2.88 at the close of trading on November 7, 2005,
and was down to $2.26 at the close of trading on the»following day,

| ‘56.. On January 26 and January 27,2006, Zafar and Thawani purchased atotal of
55,488 shares of OraLabs stock at average prices' of $1.76 and $1 783 per share,respectively.

. 57. At.3:27 p.m. on January 27, 2006, after the above purchases, the Deferrdants
began posting messages about OraLabs .on a Yahoo message board falsely stating that “analysts
predicted” that the stock would rise.to “$5.0Q by‘next week on account [of] .maj or contraet news
coming oht.’.’ |

-58. ‘-The staternents m the messages descn'hed above in_paragraph 57 were all false
and misleading because, among other reasons, (1) OraL_abs had not entered into, and did not plan
to enter into, a major contract on or about J anu'ary 27, 2006; (ii) OraLabs never announced any
contract news, or any news at all, during the relevant time; and ‘(iii) no'sec'urit.ies analyst had
made any such price predlctlon as OraLabs stock was not followed by any secuntles analysts at -
that time.

59.  The price and volume- OraLabs stock increased dramatically after the n'le.ssage's
described above in paragraph 57 and other false messages were posted by the Defendants, and
Zafar and Thawani sold all their shares on the next trading day (J anuary 30) at average prices of
$2 59 and $2 58 per share, respectively, netting a proﬁt of $44 304. The stock had closed at
$1.68 per share on January 26, the day before the touting began,land climbed as high as $3.00

per share onJ anuary 30, a 79% increase. Trading volume increased by a total of 5,885% from
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| | January 26. Afier the Defendants’ sales, thé stock price‘ dropped to $2.23 at the close of trading
 on January 30, 2006. o |
60.- From Mér;:h 2 through March 3, 2006, Zafar and Thawani purchased a totdl of
| 44,6307 shares of OraLabs stock at éverage, priceé of $1.89 and $2.07 per share, respecti&ely. |

| 61. ~ OnMarch 6, 2006, Thawani posted-multiple messages about OraLabs fal'sely.
| statihg ﬂiat “analysts” were “upgrading” the stock and that “institutions may start buying” the
| stock.. | |
| 62. _The- statem’eﬁts in the _r_nessage_s_described élb_bve in paragraph 61 were all fafse
" and misleading because, among other reasons, (i) no analyst “up graded” OraLaBs stock, as the
stock was not followed by any analysts at that time; and (ii) no institutional investor bought or
staﬁed to buy the stock at or_arqund that timé, and there is no indicationbthat any institutional
_ inve;stor was planning to buy the stock at or around that time.
63. Tﬁe price and volume of OraLabs stock increased substantially after the false
 messages deécribed above in parégraph 61 we;é posted, and Zafar'aﬁd Thawani sold all their
| shares ‘én March 6, 2006 at average priqes of $2.32 and $2.4_O per share, respectively, netting a
profit of $16,413. The stock had cldsed at $1.85 per share on March 2, the day‘before the touting
began, énd climbed as high as $2.20 pef share on Mafch 6,a 41% increase. | Trading volume
increased by a total of 83'7%. from March 2. After the Defendants’ sales, the stock pﬁce dropped
to $2.00 at the close of trading on March_ 6, 2006.

PPT Vision, Inc.

64.  The common stock of PPT Vision, Inc: (“PPTV”), a Minnesota corporation based

in Eden Prairie, Minnesota, is quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB”) under
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| the ticker symhol PPTB. The Defendants made a total profit of $53,957 manipulating the market
" for PPTV stock in Novemher 2005. | . |

| 65. On November 11 and November 14, 2005 Zafar and Thawani purchased a total

| of 38 900 shares of PPTV stock at average prices of $1 35 and $1.24 per share respectively.

66. - At9:55am.on November 14, 2005, Zafar and Thawani each posted an 1den‘ucal
vmessage'oh separate Yahoo message boards. Each message falsely stated as follows: “PPTV to
'formally_an_hounce huge mterhati_ohal contract this -week.” ThlS statement was materially false
ahd misleading because, among other reasons, PPTV had not entered into, and did not plan to
enter ihto, any international or other large contraet at that tirne; rlor did PPTV ‘anhounc_e any such
contract that week or at any time since the messages were posted. :

67.  The price and volurne of PPTV increased 'dramaticallvaﬁer the false messages

described'above in paragraph 66 were posted, and Zafar and Thawani sold all their shares that .

 same day (November 14) at average prices of $2 69 and $3.03 per share, respectively, nettmg a

profit $53 957. On November 14 2005, PPTV stock opened at $1 .42 per share and climbed as
hlgh as $4.30 per s_hare, a 203% increase. Trading volume on November 14 increased by

1,705% from the previous trading day. Aﬁer the Defendants’ sales, the stock price dropped to .-
$1.79 at the close of tr_adihg on November 14, 2005. |

Lucille Farms Inc.

| 68. | The common stock of Lucille Farms Inc. (“Lucille”), a Delawareéorporation
based in Swanton, Vermont, is quoted m the Pink Sheets under the ticker symbol LUCY. The
Pihk Sheets are a daily publicarioh compiled by the National Quotation Bureau vvith bid and ask
| prices of over—the—corlnter stoeks. The Defendants made a total profit of $45,387 manipﬁlating

the market for Lucille in April 2005.
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69. On March 30 and Apﬁl 1, 2005, Zafar and Thawani pp.rchaéed a total of 83,600
shares of Lucille stdck at average prices of $1.25 and $1.22 per share, reSpebtiifely.

70, At3:08 p-m. on April 1, 2005, after the above purchasés, Zafar posted a message
ona Yahoo message board falsely stating aé follows: “Wall street juét issued an alert on LUCY
[Lucille], there’s talk of a mérger WitthRAFT. and pﬁ'ce pfoj'ectioh of $3i.25 by next week!”

71.  The stateménts friade in the message described above in paragraph 70 were
materially false and misleading because, among other reasons, (i) Lucille and Kraft Inc. have‘
never discussed merging or ever’talgen aIiy steps to enter into a merger or other business
‘c'ombination, and no such merger e;er occurred; (ii) no securiﬁes analyst.or other ﬁnancial
pfofessional publicly issued ény information of any kind about a possible merger befween'

" Lucille and Kraft; and (iii) no securities analyst of other financial professi-oﬁal publicly szued
“sucha price projection for Luciﬁe stock on or about April 1, 2005. |

72.  The price and volume ‘increased dramatically after the false message described
above in pa:ragraph 70 w;s posted, and Zafar and Thawani sold all of their shares oﬁ,the next
trading day (April 4) at aVerage prices of $1.80 and $1.82 per share, respectively, neﬁihg a profit
‘of $45,387. On April 1, 2005, Lucille étock opened at $1.17 per éhare. and, after the Defendanfcs

' cohtinued to toﬁt the stock with other false messages, the pricé climbed as high as $1.99 pér
share on April 4, a 70% iﬂcrease. Trédixlg volume increased by 286% oi_1 April 1 from the
‘ previous trading day a-nd' by another 654% on. April 4. After the Defendants’ éales, the stock

price dropped to $1 .v48' at the close of trading on April 4, 2005. -
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Centennial Specialty Foods Corporation

73:  The common stock o;f Centennial Speciélty Foods Corporaﬁon (“Centennial” 1s .' '
_quoted in the Pink Sheets under the ticker symbol CHLE. The Defendants made a total profit of
| $42,905 manipulating the mérket for Centennial stock in May 2005.

‘ 74. ~ On May 19 and May 20, 2005, Zafar and Thawani purchased a total of 1 15,600
shares of Centennial stock at an average price of $0.50 per share. |

75. At3:15 p.m; on Mey 20, 2005, shortly eﬁer the above purchases, Thawanj posted »
a inessage oe a Yaheo message board falsel’y stating that dietvconglorﬁeréte Atkins Invc.IWas
| going .te acquire Centenﬁial and market its products u_ndef th,e.Atki-ns‘name. _

76. - The statements in the message described above in. paragraph 75 were materially
false and ;nisleading because, among other reasons, (i) Centennial and Aﬂdns have never agreed
to, or even discussed, an acquisition of Centennial by Atkms or ever taken any steps to enter into’
- any type of business combinatioﬁ, and no such acquisition or similar transaction ever occulred;
~and (ii) Centennial and Atkins have never entered into or agreed to enter into, or taken any steps
toward, any type of transaction involving the m4ark,eting of Centennial preducts by Atk‘ihs. '

77. The pr—ices and volume of Centennial stock increased dramatically after the false-
message deseﬁbed above in paragraph 75 was posted, and Zafar and Thaw.ani sold all their
—shares on the next vtrading day (May 23) at average priceé of $O.87 and $0.93 pef share, |
respectively, netting a proﬁt of $42, 905. On May 20, 2005, Centennial stock opened at $0.58 per
share and, after the Defendants continued to tout the stock w1th other false messages, the pnce |
climbed as high as $1.04 per share on May 23,2 79%% increase. Trading volume increased by
119% on May.20 from the previous trading day aﬁd by another 132% on May 23. After the :

Defendants’ sales, the stock price dropped to $0.60 at the close of trading on May 23, 2005.
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Precision Optics Corporation, Inc.

78. The common stock of Precision Optics Corporation, Inc. (“Precision Optics”), a
Massachusetts corporation based in Gardener, Massachusetts 1S quoted on the OTCBB under the
‘ticker symbol POCIL The Defendants manipulated the market for Precision Optlcs stock on
multiple occasions between January and May 2005, netting a total profit of $36,408.

79. For example from March 15 through March 21, 2005, Zafar and Thawani
purchased a total of 79, 470 shares of Precision Optics stock at average prices of $1.11 and $1.03
- per share, respectlvely

'80.  The Defendants began falsely touting Precision Optics stock on March 18, 2005,
and continued to post fraudulent messages over the next several days. For example at 9:44 am.
| on March 21, 2005, Zafar posted a message on a message board maintained by Yahoo falsely
stating as follows: “Seems like News PR of POCI’s revolutionary new optical endoscope is to
be released this week.” The statements in this message were materially false and- misleading
because, among other reasons, Precision Optics had bneither developed nor planned to a.nnounce
an optical endoscope product of any kind at that time, and no such amioun'cement has ever |
occurred. | |

81. The price and volu;ne of Precision Optics stock increased dramatically after the
false message described above in_pa;ragraph' 80 was posted, and Zafar and Thawani sold all their
shares on March 21 at average prices of $1.38 and $1.48 per share, respectively, generating a
profit of $21,230. Precision Optics stock had opened at $1.08 per share on March 18, the day‘on
~ which the Defendants first began touting Precision Optics stock, and after the Defendants
contlnued postlng false messages the price climbed as high as $1.63 per share on March 21, a

51% increase. Trading volume increased by 1,295% on March 18 from the prev10us tradmg day

]
©
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and by ano_thef 608% on March 21. After the Defendants’ sales, the stock price dropped fo $1.19 | : |
a;t the close of trading on March 21, 2005.

82. On another occasion,.in January 2005, the Defendants used a different set FOf -
ﬁﬂsrepresentations to m'anipulafe Precision Optics st»obc.k. Oﬁ i} ailuary 6, 2005, Zafar'.pufchaséd \
12,000 shares of Précision Optics stock., The-next day, Zafar posted the following two false |
messagés under .different User IDs oﬁ a Yah_oé mess_age board: (1) “EBAY BUYS MILLIONS
o _OF-SHARES OF ‘POCI‘[Precision Optics]”; and (ii) “Starting Monday, POCI will sell

revoiutionary n'ev‘} breakthrough -optical laser lenses uéed in vCOl’_l_]' unction with chemotherapy.
Use of such lenses in tésting haé been.proven to dramatically decrease cancer growth in céncer
patients! The new technology is béing heavily sought after by governmént hospitals and private -
' cancér clinics.” |

83.  The statements in the meséages described above in paragraph 82 were all
materially false and misleading because, among other reasoné, 1) eBay never bought, orplanned
to buy, any shares, much less millions of shareé, of Precision thics stock and never made any B
other type of investment in Precision Optics; and (ii) Precision Optics has neither developed nor
sold pptical laser lenses for use in conj unction with chemotherapy or any other such produ(;t for
use in govemmeﬁt hospitals or priflate cancer clinics.

84. . Theprice and-volurhe of Preciéion Optics stock inéreased dramatically after the
false messages déscﬁbed above in paragraph 82 were posted, and Zafar sold all his shares on
Jénuary 6, netting a profit of$.2,9;°>3. On Januafy 6, the price rose by as much as 51% over the

prior day’s closing price; and the volume increased by 1,272% in that same period. |
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- CTI Industries Corp.

85. The common stock of CTI Industries Corp. (“CTI), an Ill1n01s corporatlon based
in Bamngton Illinois, is publicly traded on the Nasdaq Capltal Market under the ticker symbol
'CTIB. The Defendants manipulated the market for CTI stock on multiple occasr'ons for a total
proﬁt of $30,967. - |

86. On January 31, 2005, Zafar purchased 20,800 shares of CTI stock. On February

.' 1, '_2005.,;Z’afar posted multiple messages on Yahoo message boards at various times under
different User_]])s, including messages falsely stating that CTI “JUST GOT A MAJOR $200
MILL CONTRACT IN ]RAQ.”. . This statement was materially false and misleading because
CTI? amanufacturer of balloons and ﬂexible packaging with annual revenue of $37.2 million,

. has never received a contract, much less a $200 million contract, to perform work in Iraq of any
kind.

87. The price and Volurne of CTI stock increased dramatically after the fals'e'
messages described above in paragraph 86 were posted, and Zafar sold all his shares on l*"ebruars;
1, netting a profit of $13,12§. The stock price rose by as much as 50% on February 1, and the
trading vclunle increased that day by 889%.

88. On March 4, 2005, Zafar and Thawani purchased a total of 41,300 shares of CTI
stock. On the next trading day (March 7), Zafar posted a message falsely stating that CTI had
received a “MAJOR CONTRACT WITH SOME TOP NAMES COMPANYS LIKE CISCO,
MICROSOFT, AND IBM,” and that a “NEWS RELEASE [IS] EXPECTED NlEXT WEEK.”
These statements were all materially false and misleading because, aniong other reasons, CTI has
neVer.received, or taken any steps to enter into, a contract of any kind’with Cisco, Microsoft, or

IBM; nor did CTI or any of those companies issue a news release about any such contract.
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89. Tne price and volume of CTI stock increased dramatically after the false message
descﬁbed above in paragraph 88 was posted and Zafar and Thawani sold all their shares on
March 7, nettmg a profitof $17, 840 On Ma:rch 7, the price of CTI stock rose by as much as
60%, and the tradmg volume increased by 2 186%, over the prior tradmg day. |

chkle Walker Marme, Inc

90.  The common stock of Dickie Walker Marine, Inc. (“Dickie Walker’ ), a DelaWafe

- corporation based in Oceanside, Cahforma, is pubhcly traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market

- under the tlcker symbol DWMAC The Defendants mampulated the market for Dickie Walker

stock on multiple occas1ons between November 2004 and February 2005, netting a total proﬁt of
$23,292. | | |

91. For example, on November 19, 2004, Zafar purchased 7,000 shares of Dicltie
Walker stock at an average price of $1.06 per share. On November 19, immediately before and '
after this purchase, Zafar posted at least twenty messages on an internet message board :

maintained by the Lion.com aggressively touting Dickie Walker stock as a great buying

opportunity. Two of thesemessages made false statements about Dickie Walker obtaining a

government contract. One of these messages stated as follows: “DWMA WORKING ON A

- CONTRACT WORTH OVER 20 MILLION DOLLARS FROM THE COAST GUARD.” Zafar

_also posted a virtually identical message under the same User ID later that afternoon.
.92.  The statements in the messages described‘above in paragraph 91 were materially

false and mlsleadmg because among other reasons, (i) Dickie Walker has never had discussions

- with the United States Coast Guard or taken any steps to enter into a contract or other business

relatlonshlp of any size With.the United States Coast Guard, and Dickie Walker never entered
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into any such contract; and_(ii) Dickie Walker is a supplier of naqtical"giﬁ items.with annual
revenue of $1.7 million.‘ |
93.‘ Zafar sold all of his Dickié Walker stock on the next trading day (November 22)

after tﬁe faisg méssagés descﬁbed above in paragraph 91 were  posted, at avpribc.:e of $1.37 per
share, netting a total profit of $2,029. On Novémber 22, 2004, the "voh;'me of Dickie Walker
' stock inc‘reased' by mdre than 222% oxéer the pri(;r trading day and the stbck_ price climbed io- a

high of $1.88 per sha_re. on November .22, a 96% increase over the élosing pricq on the prior |

tréding day. Aftér Zafar sold his Dickié Walker stock, the price dropped to $1‘.32‘ at the close of

trading on Novel_nber‘22, 2004. o . |

94. = The Defendants lused a different set of nlisrepfesentatibns to manipulaté_Dicki’e' .

Walker stock again in January 2005; this time realizing a total proﬁt of $14,576. On January 13,

2005, Zafar and Thawani bought a total of 27,350 shares of Dickie Wa]ker stock at average 7

prices of $1.02 and $0.93 per share, respectively.b Later on the morning of January 13, Zafar |
"posted a message about Dicide Walker on a Yahoo niessage board devoted to Sirius with the

following headline: _“SIRI [Siﬁus] TvO"BU»Y OUT DWMA.” The text of the message stated that
- Dickie Walker stock 1s ‘fbiowing up on expectations of merger with SIRL.” These statements
were materially false and misleading because, among other reasons, Dickie Walker and Sirius
have never discussed merging or ever taken any steps tb eﬂtef into a merger or other business
combination, and no such merger ever occurred. | |

95 . After Zafar posted the message described above in paragraph 94, the price of -

Dickie Walker sfock increased to a high of $2.00 per share on J anuéryi 13, an increase of 135%
from the prior day’s closing pﬁce. Trading volume increased 6n. January 13 by 3,‘902% from the

previous day. Zafar and Thawani sold all their shares of Dickie Walker stock on January 13 at

25



- average prices of $1.55 and $1.65 per share, respecti_\}ely,'netting a profit of _$14,'576. After their -

sales,-vthe stock price dropped to $1 .03 at the close of trading on January 13, 2005.

‘Spar Group, Inc.

96.  The common stock of Spar Group, Inc. (“Spar”), a Delaware corporation based in
- Tarrytown, New York, is publicly traded on the Nasdaq' Capital Marke_t under the ticker symbol
SGRP.

- 97.  OnNovember 30, 2004, Zafar purchased 7,000 shares of Spar stock at ah-average ,
price of $1.45 per share. After Zafar’s purchase, he and Thawani posted on three different -
message boards false messages that consisted of fabricated press releases attributed to Spar and
' Kmart Holdmg Corp (“Kmart™).

98. Less than an hour aﬁer he purchased Spar stock, Zafar posted amessage on a
message board devoted to Spar that purported to excerpt an actual Spar press release announc‘ing"
~ 2$29.2 million arbitration award from Macy’s, as follows:

SAN DIEGO--(BUSINESS WIRE)--Nov. 30, 2004--SPAR Group Inc
(NASDQ:SGRP) today announced it will be receiving a $29.2 million
award next week resulting from its arbitration proceedmg with Federated
department stores subsidiary Macy’s.

99. On_December 3,2004, Zafar and Thawani each posted on two other message
boards an identical message that purported to be an actual Kmart press release announcing a $56
million contract with Spar, as follows:

“Troy, MI--Friday 10:35 am (ASSOCIATED PRESS)
Kmart Holdmg Corp (NASDAQ: KMRT) announced today that it will be
appointing the services of international merchandiser SPAR Group, Inc.
(NASDAQ: SGRP) to assist in the opening of 48 new stores in the USA
and 18 new stores in Europe. The-contract is expected to yield
approximately $56 million revenue for SPAR Group Inc. over the next one
year, while expanding Kmart retail in Europe and USA. Rachel Glovanm

spokesperson for Kmart quotes “We are happy to announce this new,
mutually beneficial relationship with SPAR Group Inc. Kmart will use -
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SPAR Group’s expertise and experience in international merchandising to
further expand our chain in Europe, and SPAR Group, Inc. will leverage
Kmart’s financial resources to expand locations in Europe.” Exact *
' ﬁnancial details will be announced on December 10th,‘ 2004.
160. The stateﬁents contained in the messages deseﬁbed above in paragraphs 98 and '
99 Were all materially false and misleading ‘eecause, among other reasons: (i) Spar has never
announced that it had received or would receive, and has never received, any arbitration award
from Federated'DepartInent Stores, Ine., or from any of its snbsidiaries, including Macy’s, or
even been a party to any such arbitration proceeding; (it) Kmart has never announced that it had
entered into or agreed to enter into, and has ne_ver.enter.ed into or-agreed to enter into or even
discussed, a contract or other business relationship Witn Spar; and (iii) no one named Rachel
Giovanni worked for Kmart
101.  After each phony press release described above in paragraphs 98 and 99 was
posted, the nrice of Spar stock increased by an average of approximately 50 perceni. The
volume increased By 419% on November 30, the day on which the Macy’s message was posted,
and by another 295'% on December 3, the day on which the Kma;rt message was posted. Zafar
" sold all his Spar stock -- a portion after each phony press release .--b at an average price ranging
~ from $1.50 to $1.55 per share, for a total preﬁt of $271. After Zafar’s sales, the stock price

dropped to $1.39 at the close of trading on December 3, 2004. |

. Other Stocks Manipulated By The Defendants

- 102.  In addition to the conduct described above, the Defendants have used the same
| technitiues to manipulate the market for at least 12 other .'stoclss that are publlicly traded on thev }
Nasdaq Capital Market or quoted on the -OTCBB or in the Pink Sheets. In each instance, the
Defendants ereated rnul_tiple User ]D aliases, posted dozens of materially false and misleading

messages ondifferent internet message boards under those aliases, and timed their trading to take
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- advantage of the résulting pﬁce and volume increases.. In edch instance, the price and trading
~ volume of the stoék increaséd substantially after the false messages were posted and, after the

" Defendants sold their stock, returned to the levels that existed Before the Defendants’ activities. '
‘These additional Stocks, together with the.r'na_ten'al misrepresenfations and total profits made by
the Defendants 1n each caéc, include the following:

(a) Kent Financial Services, Inc. (“Kent”). The Defendants made a total of
- $981 manipulating Kent stock in October 2005 by, among other things,
making the following material misrepresentations about Kent on a Yahoo
message board: “BIRD FLU VACCINE STOCK ... ALERT OUT ON
KENT ... AQUIRING BIRD FLU VACCINE PRODUCING
COMPANY will get approx1mately $93O million worth of business THIS
QUARTER ALONE.”

(b) Trans-Industries, Inc. (“Trans-Industries”). The Defendants made a total
of $8,150 manipulating Trans-Industries stock in May and August of 2005
by, among other things, making the following material misrepresentations
about Trans-Industries on multiple Yahoo message boards: (i) “TRNI to -
receive $100 mill contract from Homeland Security — TRNI ABOUT TO
RUN!!!!”; and (ii) “After London terror attacks, NYC subway system to
be made safer and TRNI to supply parts to do so!!”

(c) Microwave Fllter Inc. (“Microwave”). The Defendants made a total of
$24,420 mampulatmg Microwave stock in April 2005 by, among other
things, misrepresenting that Microwave had received a multimillion dollar
contract from the Navy. '

(d M-Wav Inc. (“M-Wav”). The Defendants made a total of $22,043
- manipulating M-Wav stock in January and May of 2005 by, among other
things, misrepresenting that M-Wav had received $80 million from Sirius
and a contract from Direct TV.

‘(e) - JB Oxford Hbldings Inc. (“JB Oxford”). The Defendants made a total of
: $16,566 manipulating JB Oxford stock in June 2005 by, among other
things, misrépresenting that Ameritrade was acquiring JB Oxford at that
‘time.

® American Claims Evaluation Inc. (“American Claims™). The
‘ Defendants made a total of $16,422 manipulating American Claims stock
in December 2005 by, among other things, misrepresenting that American
-Claims “expected to receive major multimillion $$$ government contract
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to provide disability management services to injured US and UN soldiers
from Iraq.” : ‘

103. _ To date, the Defendants have generated a total proﬁt of at least $873,385 from

their fraudulent scheme described herein.

: The-Defendants’ Knowledge That Their Stetements Were False |
104 The Defendaflts knew, or were reckless in not knowing, ‘that the statements that
.they made in the messages descriﬁed above in paragraphs 1;5 and 12-103 were faise and
misleading beeausie; ih 'additioﬂ' to the facts described in these vparagraphs:v
(a) " A ;easohable factual basié for believing those statements to be true did not exist at
- the t1me that the Defendants made the statements. There were ne references n tﬁe press
or o_ther publiely available sources to any of the purported events described in the
ﬁ;essagee, and upon hﬁomation-md belief, the Defendants.'did not have any access to the
' pufportedly non-public information about the companies identified in the messages.
'_ (b) The Defen(iants’ treding was contrary to what they were telling investors to do,.. _
belying any belief in the truth of their own statements. While aggressively .encouragi_ng :
'others. to Buy these stoeks based on predictions of avshort-te,rm price increase driven by
_some immihent:event, the Defendants sold.all their shares before the predicted price was -
, feached and before the purported eve1-1t‘at issue eccurred or was pli_blicly anneuneed by..

" the issuer.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation’s of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, -
- Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5

'105.  The Commission repeats and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1

threugh 104 by reference as if fully set forth herein.
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106. The Defendants, difeétly or indiréctly, singly or in concert, knowipgly or
reqklessly, By use of the means L(I)r instruments of transportation or comrhunicatioﬁ in, and the
n;eans or instrumentality Qt",’interstaté commerce, or by use of the mails, in the foer o} sale, and
| n connectioﬁ with tl_1epurchase or sale, of securities, have: (a) erﬁploYed dévices, schemes, or

artifices to defrand; (b) obtained money or property by means of untrue statéments of material -
fact or omissions to state material facts necéssary in order to make the statements made, in the
light bf the cifcumétaﬁcés under which_they Weré made, not nﬁsleédjng; and/or (c) engaged in
acts, pfactices or courses of busiﬁess which operated or would operate asa fraud or deceit upon
the purchasers of the securities or pthe£ persons. :

.1 07.  Aspart §f and in furtherance of the fraudulent scheme and other Viblative conduct
idésg:ribed aboye, the Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or m concert,‘ employed the
manipulative and deceptive deviqes and contrivances and made the misrepresentations and
omitted to state the facts alleged above in paragfaphs 1-5 and 12-103.
| 108. The false and misléading statements and omiésions made byrthe Defendants, more '
fully described above in -p.a:ragfaphs 1-5 and 12-103, weré material.

109. Tﬁe Défend‘ants knew, or were reckless in not knowing, that these material
misrépreséﬁtations and oinissipns, more fully described above ih paragrgphs 1'-'5. and 12-103,
Were false or fnisleading. | o

| 110. By reason of acts,vomissions, pracﬁces, and courses of bﬁsiness alleged herein, the
Defendants have violated, are violating, are about to violéte, and, unless resfrained and enjoinéd,
will continue Viola;tihg Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, Section 10(b) of the EXchan’ge Act,-

and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.
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'PRAYER FOR RELIEF

| WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Commission respectfully requests that this Couﬁ issue:
| | 1 | |
Orders temborarily and preliminaﬁly; and Final jﬁdgrnents permanently, restraining and
enjoining each of the Defendants, théir agents; seﬁéﬁts, employees, at'tornéys in-fact, and all
_ persdns in active concert or participation with them whb receive actual notice of the injunctio'h}
by personal service .or otherwise, and each of them, frdin violating Sectio-nv 17(a) of the Secim'ﬁes
‘ Ac_'t and Section 10(b) of the EXchange_"Act,.and Rule 1}Ob-5 thereunder.
I |
An Order directing that the Defendants’ assets be frozen.
| m
An Order directing each of the Defendants to ﬁl¢ with this Court and sefve upon the
‘Commission, within three.businevss days, or within such extension of time as the Cmﬁmission
staff agrees in erifing or as otherwisé ordered by thé Court, veriﬁed written z‘lccountin‘gsv, signed
by €ach of them under pénalty of perjury.
Iv.
An Order permitting expedited discovery.
.
An Order’enjoining and restrainihg each of the Defendants, and any person or entity
acting at their direction orron their behalf, from destroying, altering, concealirig, or otherwise -

interfering with the access of the Commission to relevant documents, books and records.
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VI

‘A Final Judgment requiring each of the Defendants to disgorge their ill-gotten gains frdm »

the Violative conduct alleged herein, and to pay prejudgment interest thereon.

VIL

A Final Judgment imposing civil,monetafy penalties puréua.nt to Section 20(d) of the

“Securities Act and Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act against each of the Defendants.

VIIL.

Such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate.

Dated: April 6, 2006

New York, New York

Of_ Counsel: ]

David Rosenfeld
George N. Stepaniuk
Daniel L. Zelenko
Michael D. Jordan -
Heather E. Rutman

Respectfully submitted,

Mark K. Schonfeld (MS-2798)

Attorney for Plaintiff .

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Northeast Regional Office

Three World Financial Center

New York, New York 10281

(212) 336-1020
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